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Abstract

During the early twentieth century, Horace Nicholls (1867-1941) was one of Britain’s best-
known photographers. After working as a portrait photographer in Chile and Windsor,
Nicholls moved to South Africa where he photographed the 2nd Anglo-Boer War. In 1902,
Nicholls returned to Britain, where he established his reputation as a photojournalist.
Working from his home in Ealing, he supplied illustrated magazines with photographs of
Edwardian social and sporting events.

In 1917 Nicholls was appointed by the Department of Information to take photographs for
propagandist purposes. In this role, he documented the impact of total war on the British
people. It was at this time that Nicholls first came into contact with the Imperial War Museum
(IWM). The result of this association, a series of photographs entitled Women at War,
contains some of his finest work.

After the war, Nicholls became the IWM'’s Chief Photographer, where he worked to secure
and develop the museum’s photographic collections and documented commemorative
activities.

Today, while many of Nicholls’ photographs are familiar, little is known about the man who
took them. There has been relatively little research into his work for thirty years. Nicholls’
archive is now dispersed — a factor which has contributed to his lack of public recognition.
This thesis draws extensively on the three major archives of Nicholls’ work — The Royal
Photographic Society Collection (now at the Victoria & Albert Museum), the IWM and the
Nicholls family archive.

Nicholls enjoyed a long, prolific and varied career. The temporal range and divergent subject
matter of the photographs for which he is now best known has meant that these bodies of
work have usually been considered in isolation. In contrast, this thesis embraces a holistic
approach to Nicholls’ photography, identifying and exploring themes which are evident
throughout his career — such as copyright, commercial opportunism, and the financial
imperative.

For this thesis, | have adopted a rigorous, empirical, photo-historical methodology, within a
chronological, biographical framework. With Nicholls, this biographical structure provides far
more than just a chronological backdrop. For Nicholls, photography was much more than
just a career; Photography permeated every aspect of his life, blurring the boundaries
between public and private, personal and professional. | contend that the role of
photography in Nicholls’ life was so central and Nicholls’ personal life and his photographic
work are so intertwined that one cannot meaningfully examine one without understanding
the other.

This empirical approach, using a detailed analysis of archival sources, provides valuable
insights into Nicholls’ work, revealing information about his working practices and choice of
subjects which challenge several perceived assumptions regarding aspects of his
photography.

While the focus of the thesis concerns Nicholls and his work, Nicholls’ life forms a valuable
case study for examining broader issues relating to the history of photography, tracking the
evolution of photographic careers and informing current debates on themes such as war
photography and the development of photojournalism.
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Introduction

In The Golden Summer, the only published monograph on the work of Horace

Nicholls, Gail Buckland writes:

A study of the life of an artist...does enrich the understanding of the
work. Motivations, aspirations, passions and forces working on an
individual become defined...A biography of an artist, brief or
intensive, is a backdrop to the work and makes for a fuller encounter
with the art."

As an historical approach, however, the value of biography has been questioned:

For a long time, academic historians have been somewhat
ambivalent about the genre of biography. While most certainly
recognize it as a legitimate and venerable mode of historical
discourse, many are skeptical of the capacity of biography to convey
the kind of analytically sophisticated interpretation of the past that

academics have long expected. 2

A structure based on biography rather than a thematic or analytical framework might
therefore be regarded as an unconventional, even an inappropriate format for a PhD
thesis. However, in Nicholls’ case, a biographical structure provides more than just a
chronological backdrop; it creates a framework for examining broader issues relating
to the history of photography since his photographic career was not neatly bounded
within a professional domain but overlapped his private and personal life. To
Nicholls, photography was much more than just a way of earning a living.
Photography permeated every aspect of his life, blurring the boundaries between

public and private and personal and professional. Photography was in Horace

! Gail Buckland, The Golden Summer: The Edwardian Photographs of Horace W. Nicholls, London: Pavilion
Books, 1989, p.112. Buckland is a former curator of the Royal Photographic Society and was the first person to
promote greater awareness of Nicholls’ work following the acquisition of his archive by the RPS in 1961.

? David Nasaw, ‘Historians and Biography’, The American Historical Review, Vol, 114, No, 3, June 2009, p. 573.



Nicholls’ blood. He was born and grew up in a photographic studio. His father and
uncle were both photographers. At least three of his siblings were photographers.
When he met his wife, she was working as a photographer’s assistant.
Subsequently, he taught all of his children photography. The links between Nicholls’
life and his photographic work are so intertwined that one cannot meaningfully

examine one without understanding the other.

A well as reflecting central and dominant role photography played in Nicholls’ life, a
biographical approach also recognises the longevity and diversity of Nicholls’
photographic career. In addition to his personal significance as a photographer, a
study of Nicholls’ career forms a valuable case study allowing us to track the
evolution of photography as a career and profession over an extended period. He
learnt photography in the 1870s when the collodion process was dominant; but by
the end of his life he was using a Leica camera. His varied career encompassed
commercial studio portraiture, small scale publishing, war photography, public
lecturing, freelance newspaper, magazine and book illustration, propaganda
photography and museum record photography. Historically, their temporal range and
divergent subject matter has meant that these bodies of work have usually been
considered in isolation. However, a holistic, biographical, approach to Nicholls’
photography allows us to identify themes which are evident throughout his career,
revealing insights into his evolving working practice within the broader context of

themes within the history of photography.

Whilst adopting a broad biographical and chronological approach, at relevant points
the thesis will depart from the narrative to examine these specific themes to consider

how they inform current debates in the history of photography.

These themes include, photographic copyright, the tension between the
documentary and pictorial aesthetic, representation of war and atrocity, the use of
manipulation and photo-montage techniques, the importance of opportunism,
responses to new technologies of image capture and reproduction, patriotism,

militarism and imperialism, the centrality of family and the overlap between Nicholls’



personal life and his professional practice, and the importance of opportunism and

financial imperatives in shaping his career.

Nicholls’ registration of his photographs for copyright under the terms of the 1862
Copyright Act, his membership of the Photographic Copyright Union and his
subsequent legal action for copyright infringement against the publishers of The
Golden Penny constitute a useful case study in the history of copyright protection of

the visual arts.® (Chapter Three)

Nicholls’ work in South Africa and, later, for the Department of Information, allows us
to examine the development of the vocabularies of war photography and
photography in a time of war. His photographs of the South African War and his
public lecture tour helped to shape contemporary public perception of warfare.
(Chapter Three)

Nicholls’ work as an early photojournalist, supplying images to the illustrated press
informs the debate regarding the emergence and impact of the photomechanically
reproduced image resulting in the huge expansion of published photographic
imagery during the late Victorian and Edwardian periods.* Nicholls’ work provides
many case studies illustrating the evolving nature of photomechanical reproduction
and the emergence of hybrid hand-drawn and photographic imagery. His freelance
status also allows us to explore the commercial history of press photography.
(Chapter Four)

Central to Nicholls’ work is the debate regarding the ‘truthfulness’ of photography,
and the tension between the pictorial and documentary aesthetic. This issue first
emerges in his photographs of the South African War — “I have made it my great
aim...to produce a series of photographs which would appeal to the artistic sense of
the most fastidious, knowing that they must as photographs have the enhanced

value of being truthful” — but are most pertinently illustrated by Nicholls’ later

3The significance of this court case has been misinterpreted and exaggerated but it is mentioned passim in
Elena Cooper’s recently published Art and Modern Copyright: The Contested Image, the first in-depth and
longitudinal study of the history of copyright protecting the visual arts. Elena Cooper, Art and Modern
Copyright: The Contested Image, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2018.

* For this publishing revolution, see Gerry Beegan, The Mass Image: A Social History of Photomechanical
Reproduction in Victorian London, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2008.



extensive use of photomontage to create ‘studies’ for the illustrated press. His self-
identification as an ‘artist’ as well as a ‘journalist’ also has implications for the

perceived status of his First World War photographs as historical documents.®

Nicholls’ documentation of the Home Front during the First World War, notably his
photographs of women’s war work, allows us to explore the role of propaganda and
the impact of war on civilians. Nicholls’ work for officially produced magazines such
as War Pictorial has not been recognised or researched. Also, the inclusion of his
photographs in contemporary exhibitions, both national and international, informs the

creation of a popular perception and narrative of the war. ¢ (Chapter Five)

Nicholls’ role at the Imperial War Museum illustrates the complex, plural nature of
photography, and the shifting ground between, journalism, propaganda,

documentation and commemoration.” (Chapter Six)

An examination of Nicholls’ life forms a valuable opportunity to explore the diversity
of photographic work undertaken during one person’s career, revealing the
interactions between what are often seen as different domains of photography and

hence are rarely studied together.

The existing published literature presents a fragmentary picture of Nicholls’ life and

career.

For over three decades, following his death in 1941, Nicholls’ work remained virtually
unknown. The Imperial War Museum’s policy was not to credit photographers whose

work was held in their collection, thereby effectively rendering them invisible.®

> For photo-manipulation, see Mia Fineman, Faking It: Manipulated Photography Before Photoshop, New York:
Metropolitan Museum of Art, 2012. See also, Martyn Jolly, “Composite Propaganda Photographs during the
First World War', History of Photography, vol. 27, no. 2, 2003, pp. 154-165.

® For a recently published survey, see Jennifer Wellington, Exhibiting War: The Great War, Museums, and
Memory in Britain, Canada, and Australia, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2017.

7 See Elizabeth Edwards, Uncertain Images: Museums and the Work of Photographs, London: Routledge, 2017,
Jay Winter, War Beyond Words, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2017.

8This policy still remains in effect in many cases. See, for example, Samantha Heywood and Nigel Steel, The
WW1 Centenary Exhibition, London: Imperial War Museum, 2015 and Terry Charman, The First World War on
the Home Front, London: Andre Deutsch, 2014.



With the exception of the material held by the IWM, most of Nicholls’ archive was
retained by his youngest daughter, Margaret (Peg) and her husband, Col. Bernard
Mallinson. In 1961, the Mallinsons donated to the Royal Photographic Society:

...a valuable and varied collection of negatives and prints
selected from the life work of Horace W. Nicholls which includes a
wealth of material covering the South African Campaign, London
views 1895/1900, the Derby Races over many years, and other
selected works, providing an important addition to the Society’s

Collection.®

Initially, little was done with this material.' This changed, however, following the
appointment of Gail Buckland in February 1971 as Assistant Curator of the RPS
Collection." Buckland first came across Nicholls’ work when she was helping to
compile a catalogue of the RPS Collection. Not having previously heard of Nicholls,
she was astonished by the quality of his photographs and sought to know more

about this ‘unknown’ photographer.

In January 1973, an article about Nicholls, written by Buckland, appeared in The

Photographic Journal. This was the first in a series of articles designed to raise

awareness of photographers in the RPS Collection whose ‘work might be superb and
their contributions to photography great, but their names and their images become
obscured through the passing of the years’.' Buckland’s choice of Nicholls as the
first photographer to represent ‘the wonderful world of the “unknown” ‘ is a testament

to her conviction that she had ‘discovered’ a photographer of significance and is the

°The Photographic Journal, August, 1961, p. 263.

°A notable exception was a loan of over 200 of Nicholls’ negatives to Elstree Studios in 1963. Cecil Beaton
used these as visual references when designing his Oscar-winning costumes for the 1964 film, My Fair Lady. A
set of prints made from them was presented to the RPS by Elstree Studios. At the time, Beaton, apparently, did
not know the name of the photographer whose work he admired. See Buckland, The Golden Summer, p. 15.
"See Margaret F. Harker, The Society’s Collection, The Photographic Journal, March, 1971, pp. 120-128.
Buckland was originally employed on a twelve month contract, working for three days a week at the RPS and
two days a week at the Science Museum, assisting Dr David Thomas with preparation for the Arts Council
photographic exhibition, From Today Painting is Dead: The Beginnings of Photography, which opened at the V
& Ain March1972. One month after the exhibition opened, Buckland was employed by the RPS full-time. See
The Photographic Journal, April, 1972, p.123.

2Gail Buckland, ‘Horace Walter Nicholls. Women at War 1914’, The Photographic Journal, January, 1973, pp.
35-37.

10



foundation of her reputation as ‘the first person to draw critical attention to Nicholls’

work’.™®

Nicholls’ photographs were now considered to be a significant part of the RPS
Collection. For Christmas 1973, RPS members could buy collotype prints of Nicholls’
photographs as presents, alongside work by more celebrated names, including Julia

Margaret Cameron, Alvin Langdon Coburn, Frederick Evans and P H Emerson.™

In March 1973, Gail Buckland had met Cecil Beaton when he gave a lecture to the
RPS."™ Beaton already knew of Nicholls’ photographs (even if at the time he might
not have known the name of the photographer who took them) from his work for My
Fair Lady. Given Buckland’s newfound interest in Nicholls, it seems very likely that
his work came up as a topic of conversation.' This meeting marked the start of the
collaboration between Beaton and Buckland that led two years later to the
publication of their co-authored survey of the history of photography, The Magic
Image: The Genius of Photography from 1839 to the Present Day."

Buckland wrote of this book:

We resurrected forgotten masters...We chose to salute those
we most admired and reproduced inspiring examples of their
work...Cecil suggested that if either of us were ardent about

any individual photographer or picture. It would be included.’*®

Horace Nicholls was included among the 200 photographers selected by Beaton and
Buckland for their pantheon of photographic history. As his greatest advocate,
Nicholls had clearly been chosen by Buckland. In the introduction to her entry on

Nicholls, she writes:

BInformation about the author on the dust jacket of The Golden Summer.

“See The Photographic Journal, December, 1973, p.613. Two photographs by Nicholls were available — All
Together Boys and A Scene at the Course, Derby Day. All the other photographers were represented by just
one photograph.

1>Gail Buckland, ‘Sir Cecil Beaton at the RPS’, The Photographic Journal, July 1973, pp. 328-331.

*Beaton had used Nicholls’ photographs as references when designing his Oscar-winning costumes for the
1964 film, My Fair Lady. See earlier footnote.

YCecil Beaton and Gail Buckland, The Magic Image: The Genius of Photography from 1839 to the Present Day,
London: Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1975. By the autumn of 1974 the catalogue of the RPS Collection was nearly
complete. Faced with an urgent need to economise at the time, the RPS made Buckland’s job as Assistant
Curator redundant

8Gail Buckland, Preface to the paperback edition of The Magic Image, London: Pavilion Books,1989, p.7.
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Horace Walter Nicholls - a name probably unfamiliar to most people
knowledgable about the history of photography. Yet, in my opinion,
he was one of England’s greatest photographers. His photographs
radiate human warmth; they are alive. | know of no one who has
seen them who has not been touched by their beauty, humour or

sensitivity.®
After decades of obscurity, Nicholls’ star was now in the ascendancy.

In 1977, sixteen years after their initial donation of material, Col. and Mrs Mallinson
donated the bulk of what remained of Nicholls’ archive, including over 10,000 glass

negatives to the RPS, with the family retaining just a small selection.®

In 1980, Nicholls’ photographs received the RPS’s official imprimatur of being
amongst their ‘treasures’ when they were included in Tom Hopkinson'’s survey
publication Treasures of the Royal Photographic Society, 1839-1919.2" Hopkinson's
book was published in April that year. The previous month, Hopkinson, in an article
in the Sunday Times Magazine went so far as to predict that ‘Horace Nicholls will be

recognised as one of the greatest twentieth century photographers’.??

Some of Nicholls’ photographs had been shown in survey exhibitions during the

1970s. lan Jeffrey and David Mellor, for example, included photographs by Nicholls
from both the RPS and IWM collections in the touring exhibition they curated for the
Arts Council in 1975, The Real Thing.? It was not until 1981, however, that the first

monograph exhibition of Nicholls’ work was staged. Entitled The Enhanced Value:

Cecil Beaton and Gail Buckland, The Magic Image: The Genius of Photography from 1839 to the Present Day,
London: Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1975, p.126.

The Photographic Journal, May/June, 1977, p. 141. A major addition during the year was the entire Horace
W. Nicholls Collection acquired through the generosity of the family of this outstanding photographer’. This
donation was made for pragmatic as well as altruistic reasons. The Mallinsons had recently relocated to a
smaller house and did not have enough room to store all of the negatives — ‘It was all right while we were
living in the Dower House at Ditchley Park — There was room for them there’. The Oxford Mail, 17 March, 1989,
p.6.

2'Tom Hopkinson, Treasures of The Royal Photographic Society 1839-1919, London: Heinemann, 1980.
Hopkinson was a former picture editor of Picture Post and Drum magazines.

2Quoted in Rob Powell, ‘Levels of Truth: The life and work of Horace Nicholls’, The British Journal of
Photography, 26 June, 1981, p.642.

3|an Jeffrey and David Mellor, The Real Thing: An Anthology of British Photographs 1840-1950, London: Arts
Council of Great Britain, 1975. The exhibition opened at the Hayward Gallery London in March 1975 and
toured to venues in Sheffield, Bolton, Birmingham and Bristol.
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Documentary Photographs by Horace Nicholls, this exhibition was curated by Les
Shackell for Impressions Gallery in York, with the co-operation of the IWM and
RPS.# Opening at Impressions Gallery in January, it toured to number of venues
that year, including the RPS’s recently-opened National Centre of Photography in
Bath.? While, as the title suggests, this exhibition focussed on presenting Nicholls as
‘a great documentary’ photographer it included a wide range of work from different
stages of his career. For those accustomed to a more compartmentalised view of
photographic history this holistic approach was confusing. The review in The Times
thought it to be ‘A curious juxtaposition of the Boer War, women during the 1917 war
and crowds at the Derby’. % Nicholls, however, with his long career that spanned
several different genres and professional disciplines, did not slot easily into any of
the standard categories in photographic history - a factor which undoubtedly

contributed to his lack of recognition.

Rob Powell, writing in The British Journal of Photography, expressed surprise at the

speed with which Nicholls’ reputation had grown:

Horace Nicholls is not exactly a household name, not even in
the houses of those who know something about the history of
British photography...His name appears in none of the
standard texts, and until very recently was never even taken
into account in any assessments of the development of British
photography. Now, after decades of almost total neglect,
Horace Nicholls is beginning to resurface and his reputation
seems set for a leap from one extreme to another...\WWho was
this man who has apparently made this quick progress from

nowhere to Olympus...? %

*The exhibition title comes from a quotation by Nicholls concerning his photographs of the South African War
- ‘...photographs have the enhanced value of being truthful’.

» Impressions Gallery archive is now housed at The National Science and Media Museum, Bradford. For The
Enhanced Value, see File IMP/1/81.When the exhibition was being shown at The Photographers’ Gallery,
London, in June 1981, curator Les Shackell made an audio recording about Horace Nicholls. A copy of this is
recording is now available at the British Library — C621/16/01;F3904.

%The Times, 18 December, 1981.

?’Rob Powell, ‘Levels of Truth: The life and work of Horace Nicholls’, The British Journal of Photography, 26
June, 1981, p.642.
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While recognising that the The Enhanced Value was ‘a very substantial first step
towards a proper assessment of his (Nicholls’) contribution [to the history of
photography] Powell felt that a lot more work needed to be done before Nicholls
could justify the epithet of ‘great’ and that as far as Nicholls was concerned ‘the

surface has only been scratched’.

During the 1980s, major contributions towards a greater understanding of official
photography during the First World War, including the work of Horace Nicholls, were
made by Jane Carmichael in her seminal book First World War Photographers,
published in 1989, and Diana Condell and Jean Liddiard’s Working for Victory:
Images of women in the First World War 1914-1918, published in 1987.

Meanwhile, Gail Buckland had maintained her interest in Nicholls’ work. In 1989 her
book, The Golden Summer: The Edwardian Photographs of Horace W. Nicholls, was
published.? As the title suggests, this concentrated on Nicholls’ photographs of
Edwardian social and sporting events — ‘an eloquent testimony to the last golden
Edwardian summer'-.?® At the end of the book, Buckland appended a biography of
Nicholls, written with the help of information supplied by the Nicholls family, in
particular, Col. Bernard Mallinson. * To coincide with the publication of The Golden
Summer, the RPS staged a major exhibition of Nicholls’ work. Horace Nicholls:
Pioneer Photojournalist, curated by Brian Coe, opened at the RPS’s National
Photography Centre in Bath in February, 1989.3' Despite the fact that The Enhanced
Image, shown at the RPS eight years earlier, had included a wide range of Nicholls’
work, Coe claimed that Horace Nicholls: Pioneer Photojournalist was the first

exhibition to explore Nicholls’ complete oeuvre:

Gail Buckland, The Golden Summer: The Edwardian Photographs of Horace W. Nicholls, London: Pavilion,
1989. In her acknowledgements, Buckland attributes the genesis of the book to an invitation from the RPS —
‘The author would like to thank Mr. Kenneth Warr, Secretary of the Society, for remembering my keen interest
in Nicholls since my days as Curator of the Society’s collection in the early 1970s and inviting me to write the
book’. p.143.

»pavilion Books Ltd catalogue, books for January-June, 1989.

%Horace Walter Nicholls (1867-1941) A Life in Photography’, Gail Buckland, The Golden Summer, pp.112-142.
A highly-respected photo-historian, Brian Coe was the former curator of the Kodak Museum in Harrow.
Following the museum’s closure he was seconded to the RPS to become the Society’s curator. His salary
continued to be paid by Kodak Ltd.

14



Although some of Nicholls’ work has been seen before in books
and exhibitions, the exhibition...is the first to cover the full range

of his professional photography.’ *

In an article written for the Observer magazine, Buckland also stressed what she
regarded as the ground-breaking nature of her book and the accompanying

exhibition:

Few photographers were more widely known than Horace W.
Nicholls (1867-1941) during the Edwardian era, yet he has been
sitting on the sidelines of photo-history ever since. A
retrospective exhibition at the Royal Photographic Society in
Bath, however, will move Nicholls to the first division. Some of
his pictures are well known...but there has been little
understanding of his career or recognition of his talent in bringing

to life the spirit of his times. *

Coinciding with the publication of The Golden Summer, was the publication of a
revised, paperback, edition of Beaton and Buckland’s The Magic Image, originally
published in 1975. Nicholls is still included in this personal survey of significant
photographers. However, in the light of her subsequent research undertaken for The
Golden Summer, Buckland has now revised and edited the introductory paragraph of

her accompanying text on Nicholls, making it less effusive and more objective:

Horace Walter Nicholls, a name unfamiliar to even the
cognoscenti of photo-history, yet one of Britain’s most remarkable

photographers.®

Nicholls, previously described by Buckland as ‘one of England’s greatest
photographers’ is now described as one of the ‘most remarkable’ — a subtle yet
significant demotion in status suggesting that greater familiarity with a larger body of

Nicholls’ work had led to a reappraisal of his significance.

32Brian Coe, ‘Horace Nicholls: Pioneer Photojournalist’, The Photographic Journal, February 1989, pp.66-68.
3Gail Buckland, ‘ A Golden Summer Revisited’, The Observer Magazine, 5 February, 1989, pp. 32-36.

3*Cecil Beaton and Gail Buckland, The Magic Image: The Genius of Photography, London: Pavilion Books, 1989,
p. 126
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Since the publication of The Golden Summer in 1989, while Nicholls’ work continues
to appear in books and exhibitions, there has been relatively little new research into
Nicholls’ work.* The temporal range and divergent subject matter of Nicholls’ work
has meant that individual bodies of work have usually been considered in isolation.
While there has been excellent work on specific aspects of Nicholls’ work by
Suzannah Biernoff, Claire Bowen, Marcia Pointon, Jane Tynan and others, the
existing published literature presents a fragmentary picture of Nicholls’ life and
career. Gail Buckland’s biography of Nicholls in The Golden Summer, while still the
most comprehensive published source is incomplete and, in some aspects,

inaccurate.

By exploring an extensive range of archival sources, in addition to the main
institutional and private collections of Nicholls’ work, this thesis presents a rich
narrative of Horace Nicholls' career founded on detailed empirical research. In
adopting this empirical approach, | have been influenced by reading Elizabeth Anne
McCauley’s study of commercial photography in nineteenth century Paris and Billy
Kllver’s exploration of a series of photographs taken by Jean Cocteau in the
summer of 1916.%* McCauley draws on extensive archival documentation to analyse
the business of photography — the ways studios were formed, products promoted
and financial backers found. Kllver’'s empirical research — almost forensic in its detail
— combining biographical research and a careful examination of what is captured in
the photographs, together with scientific investigation (for example, he obtained
details of the position of the sun on 12 August 1916 from the Bureau de Longitudes
in Paris which, together with the length of shadows shown in the photographs,
enabled him to calculate the exact time at which each photograph was taken, and
thus to put them in their correct sequence) is a tour de force, allowing him to recreate
the events of a single afternoon in Paris in the lives of Cocteau, Picasso and their

friends. | have also taken inspiration from Christopher Morton’s recent study of the

3See, for example Pam Roberts, Photogenic: From the Collection of The Royal Photographic Society, London:
Scriptum, 2001. | myself included Nicholls’ work in Drawn By Light: The Royal Photographic Society Collection,
an exhibition | curated in 2014 which was shown at Media Space , London and the National Media Museum,
Bradford.

%% Elizabeth Anne McCauley, Industrial Madness: Commercial Photography in Paris, 1848-1871, New Haven:
Yale University Press, 1994. Billy Klliver, A Day with Picasso: Twenty-Four Photographs by Jean Cocteau,
Cambridge Mass: MIT Press, 1997.
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work of E. E. Evans-Pritchard where he presents a new perspective on the work of
one of the most important British anthropologists of the twentieth century by using
his photographic archive as the starting point to rethink the way in which his personal
encounters and experiences and their historical context shaped his photographic

work.%’

My empirical methodology has also been shaped by recent developments regarding
the growing recognition of the relevance and importance of economic, business and
industrial history as a methodology for exploring crucial but often overlooked aspects
of the history of photography. In adopting this methodology | have been encouraged
and inspired by working closely with scholars such as Elizabeth Edwards, Kelley
Wilder, Pippa Oldfield and Steve Edwards. As Steve Edwards has noted in his
recent article Why Pictures? From Art History to Business History and Back Again:
“Shifts are evidently taking place in the study of photography and we see a growing
attention to business, industry and labour”. * In his article, Edwards identifies two
events in particular as providing an important platform for photographic history
employing this methodology - Workers and Consumers: The Photographic Industry
1860—1950, a conference organised by The Photographic History Research Centre
at De Montfort University in 2013 and The Business of War Photography: Producing
and Consuming Images of Conflict, held at the Centre for Visual Arts and Culture at
Durham University in 2014.% The call for papers for Workers and Consumers

outlined the scope and aims of the conference:

The history of photography has largely been dominated by
concerns about aesthetic production and its political framings.
Such ‘art historical’ approaches have marginalised the study of
the economic base of the medium manifested through a

developing photographic industry, its related trades and its

¥Christopher Morton, The Anthropological Lens: Rethinking E.E.Evans-Pritchard, Oxford: Oxford University
Press, 2019.

%8 Steve Edwards, ‘Why Pictures? From Art History to Business History and Back Again’, History of Photography,
Vol.44, No.1, January 2020, pp. 3-15.

% The Business of War Photography: Producing and Consuming Images of Conflict
https://www.academia.edu/19758901/The_Business_of War_Photography Producing_and_Consuming_Imag
es_of Conflict (accessed 30 March 2022).
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mass consumers...the missing component in the analysis is
often a detailed and empirically informed understanding of the
social and economic conditions of product development, labour
forces, marketing and consumer demand. This two-day
conference aims to bring together a critical mass of research in
this area, to explore the state of play in this overlooked but
crucial aspect of history of photography, and to suggest new
directions for research in the economic, business and industrial

history of photography. “°

Similarly, as its title suggests, The Business of War Photography conference aimed
to examine war photography not as something restricted to the activities of
photojournalists but in an expanded sense - as the result of a nexus of pragmatic
and strategic transactions and interactions concerning business, militarism and

consumption.

| was an active participant in both of these conferences, delivering a keynote paper
at De Montfort and also contributing a paper at Durham. *' My thesis is situated
firmly in the context of business histories relating to the history of photography which
is rooted in my research interests and outputs going back over thirty years.* In their
introductory article in the special issue of Journal of War and Culture Studies,
published following the Durham conference, Tom Allbeson and Pippa Oldfield
observed that “the treatment of photography as a business undertaking has
been neglected by the majority of photography historians”.** Whilst noting that

“scholarship on photography and business remains sporadic and dispersed — a

““Workers and Consumers: The Photographic Industry 1860-1950
https://photographichistory.wordpress.com/2013/06/20/workers-and-consumers-the-photographic-industry-
1860-1950/ (accessed 30 March 2022).

“IThe Modern Priests and Temples of the Sun — DMU, 25 June, 2013. How the British Photographic Industry
Reacted to the Outbreak of War in 1914 — Durham 1 August, 2014.

2 For early examples of my publications in this area, see, ‘What a Give-away: Kodak Premium Cameras’,
Photographica World, No 64, March, 1993, pp 19-22. ‘A Transatlantic Emanation: The Kodak Comes to Britain’
in American Photographs in Europe, Mick Gidley, David E. Nye, Eds, Amsterdam: VU University Press, 1994, pp
109-129. ‘Kodak in Britain 1883-1898’, Part One, Photographica World, No 65, June, 1993, pp 10-14. Part Two,
Photographica World No 67, December, 1993, pp 19-24.

“*Tom Allbeson and Pippa Oldfield, ‘War, Photography, Business: New Critical Histories’, Journal of War and
Culture Studies, Vol. 9, 2016, No. 2, pp 94-112.
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minor byway, rather than a defining trajectory for research” they also
acknowledged that: “A number of photo-historians pay close attention to
business sources, including journals, advertisements, company records, and
patents and legal documents, in order to illuminate their research on early or
overlooked photographic practices.” * Allbeson and Oldfield cite the work of
several scholars as exemplars of this approach, including my research into the work

and business practices of itinerant beach and street photographers.*

An exclusive reliance on an empirical methodology, however, can also have its

drawbacks. Steve Edwards likens the recent growing attention to business, labour
and industry in the study of the history of photography as in some ways a return to
the work of an earlier generation of ‘antiquarian’ photohistorians such as Arthur T.

Gill, R. Derek Wood and Bernard and Pauline Heathcote:

Not tied down by assumptions about art, antiquarians were
prepared to follow their sources and gather any information they
came across, including important material on business
procedures. This work can be invaluable as a guide to sources,

just as it can be infuriatingly myopic. *

Indeed, an indiscriminate emphasis on the collection of empirical evidence, rather
than a more reflexive approach which carefully considers the relevance and value of
this information, can result in an inability to ‘see the wood for the trees’, blurring the
subject of the research instead of bringing it in to sharper focus. The particular merit
of empirical research is that it enables studies to be grounded in fact rather than
speculation and, in considering practical and material imperatives and contexts for
the production of photographs, it can provide a firm foundation for detailed visual
analyses of images and theoretical assessments which might otherwise result in

misunderstanding or misinterpretation.

“ |bid.

“ Colin Harding, ‘The Smudger's Art: The Popular Perception and Representation of Itinerant Photographers in
the 19th Century’ in S. Popple and V. Toulmin, (eds) Visual Delights: Essays on the Popular and Projected
Image. Trowbridge: Flicks, 2000, pp.141-153. Colin Harding, ‘Sunny Snaps: Commercial Photography at the
Water's Edge’. In: T. Cusack (ed) Art and Identity at the Water's Edge. Farnham: Ashgate, 2012, pp.229-246.
“ Steve Edwards, ‘Why Pictures? From Art History to Business History and Back Again’.
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There is comparatively little detailed visual analysis of individual photographs in my
thesis. Partly, this stems from the constraints imposed by word count limits. It is also,
however, a result of my choice to adopt an empirical rather than an art historical and
image-centred focus to my research. | am not concerned primarily or exclusively with
Nicholls’ canon of ‘iconic’ images but have concentrated on photographs which shed
some light on Nicholls’ professional and commercial practice or place them within a
specific context. | have considered some of Nicholls’ best-known and ‘exceptional’
images, but | have also included some of his photographs which might be considered
banal or clichéd. | recognise the value of critical assessments and hope that my
research will provide the basis for future, more theoretical/interpretive, assessments

of aspects of Nicholls’ work that have been neglected or misunderstood.

Nicholls enjoyed a long, prolific and varied career which provides an incredibly rich
case study for understanding a range of issues that inform broader photo-historical
debates. A study of Nicholls’ career provides an opportunity to discuss these. It also
allows us to consider the changing nature of photographic careers that
photographers had to navigate - at which Nicholls seemed remarkably adept —
adapting to changing technologies, personal and commercial circumstances to take
advantage of opportunities to maximise the commercial rewards the medium
presented. A detailed, empirical examination of Nicholls’ life will, for the first time,
situate him clearly in the various matrices in which he has a place and contribute to
the various histories of photography, photojournalism, propaganda and museology. It
sheds new light on different aspects of Nicholls’ development and motivations as a
photographer and challenges some of the interpretations of Nicholls’ work in the

existing literature.
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CHAPTER ONE

Born in a Studio

In 1851, John Nicholls and his family were living in London. John, aged 39, and his
wife Sophia, also 39, lived with their six children, aged between 17 and six months*#’
Both John and Sophia had been born in Norfolk but had moved to London, probably
for John’s work. John Nicholls has been described as ‘an architect, builder and
restorer of cathedrals churches and castles’.*® The reality, however, was somewhat
more prosaic. For the 1851 census, John Nicholls gave his occupation as ‘joiner’. In
later censuses he described himself as a builder. While he was indeed involved in
the restoration of, amongst other buildings, a castle, it was in the more modest

capacity of builders’ foreman rather than as an architect.

During the 1860s, a major building project was undertaken in central Cambridge with
the construction of Whewell’s Court, opposite the entrance to Trinity College. The
building contractor appointed for the construction of Whewell’'s Court was George
Smith who was based in Pimlico, not far from John Nicholls’ London home.* For a
job of this importance, Smith needed a team that he knew he could depend on. The
clerk of works was a Mr Rencher who had worked for Smith on several projects in
London. As works superintendent, Smith appointed John Nicholls who, by inference,

would have already been one of his employees.*

The Nicholls family duly moved to Cambridge, where they lived at Newnham Grove,
a detached house on the Grantchester Road on the outskirts of the town. In June
1861, when it was advertised for rent, this house was described as ‘one of the

prettiest and most retired places for residence in the neighbourhood’.*' Possession

7 John (17), Charles (12), Arthur (10), Henry (4), Frederic (2) and Emily (6 months).

“Buckland, The Golden Summer, p.112.

* Nicholls’ address in the 1851 census is given as 3 St Andrew’s Terrace, Westminster.

*® Rencher and Nicholls are reported as clerk of works and superintendent, respectively, for the development
of Whewell’s Court in The Cambridge Chronicle and Journal, Saturday 18 July, 1868 p.8.

! The Cambridge Chronicle and Journal, Saturday 1 June, 1861, p.5.

21



was available from midsummer that year and this was probably the time that John
Nicholls took up residence with his family. Living in a large house in a desirable
location might imply that the family were prosperous. The reality, however, was
different. Newnham Grove was owned by St John’s College who leased it to an A. J.
Moyes who, in turn, sub-let the house. In the 1871 census the Nicholls family are
recorded as sharing the house with two other families.*® The family were comfortably
off, as evidenced by their clothing and appearance in contemporary photographs but

could not be described as wealthy.

The Nicholls family were certainly living at Newnham Grove by the autumn of 1864.
There is strong circumstantial evidence to suggest that at this time John Nicholls was
involved in another major Cambridge building project - the rebuilding and extension
of Addenbrooke’s Hospital. The clerk of works for this project was, once again, Mr
Rencher.* It is not unreasonable to assume that Rencher would again have been
working alongside his colleague, John Nicholls. John Nicholls’ involvement in the
building work would also explain why one of his sons, Arthur, photographed the

construction of the new hospital building.**

Arthur Nicholls’ photograph of Addenbrooke’s Hospital under construction (Figure
1.1), taken in 1864, when he was aged 23, shows that he was a technically proficient
photographer and had access to a camera, chemicals and a darkroom.*
Unfortunately, there is no record as to how Arthur had acquired his knowledge of
photography. If he was not self-taught, one can only assume that he had been
employed as an apprentice or an assistant to a local photographer or, less likely, that
he had enrolled on a commercial course of instruction, such as that offered by the

Royal Panopticon of Science and Art in Leicester Square. *°

*2 These were the Unwin family and the Wilby family.

*3Cambridge Independent Press, Saturday, 14 October 1865, p.6.

>* Arthur Nicholls photographed the building work from the roof of the Fitzwilliam Museum. This photograph is
now in the local studies collection at Cambridge Central Library — H.A. J63 7779.

> The date of the photograph can be estimated at November 1864. Roofing work is still underway in the
photograph and this had been completed by December that year — see The Cambridge Independent Press,
Saturday 10 December 1864, p.8. The photograph is annotated ‘A Nicholls Photo Newnham Grove’. Since
Nicholls did not have a studio at this time it is probable that he had set up his darkroom at home.

*® For a description of the Panopticon, see The London Journal, 13 May, 1854, p. 168. The charge for instruction
in photography was five guineas for six lessons.
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At the time Arthur took this photograph he had decided to become a professional
photographer and to open his own studio. As well as technical knowledge, he would,
of course have needed some money in order to set up in business. In the absence of
hard evidence, one can only presume that he received some financial help from his
family. Arthur planned to open a photographic studio at 5 All Saints’ Passage, near
St John’s College, on 17 October 1864.°" However, the publicised opening never
took place. On 29 October, Nicholls placed an announcement in the local press

saying that he:

Begs respectfully to announce to the public and those friends who
promised him their patronage that the House he has taken in All
Saints’ Passage, not being large enough for first-class Portraiture, he
has thought it advisable NOT to OPEN it as a Photographic Studio *®

While Nicholls claimed a lack of space as the reason for not opening the studio as
planned, he may also have been influenced by other factors. The disruption caused
by the construction of the new Chapel of St John’s College, just yards away from his

proposed new studio may have persuaded him to find a different location.*®

It was several months before Arthur Nicholls found suitable alternative premises. In
June 1865 The Cambridge Chronicle and Journal announced that ‘A. Nicholls’s new

photographic studio is now open’.?® The studio was located in Post Office Terrace, a

37 Arthur Nicholls placed advertisements in the local press announcing the imminent opening of his studio. See,
for example, The Cambridge Independent Press, Saturday 15 October 1864, p.1. Nicholls’ plans for opening his
studio were clearly well advanced. He had already had carte mounts printed with the All Saints Passage
address. To use these up he subsequently altered the mounts by crossing out the All Saints Passage address
and adding his Post Office Terrace address in manuscript. For an example of this, see the Fading Images
website on Cambridgeshire photographers - http://www.fadingimages.uk/photoNi.asp (accessed 12/03/2018).

%8 See The Cambridge Chronicle and Journal, Saturday 29 October 1864, p.1. The Grade Il listed premises are
still there and are now occupied by an upmarket lingerie shop. The present shop manager kindly allowed me
to look around in January 2018, which served to confirm Arthur Nicholls’ concerns. The shop is very small and
it would have been problematic to have found adequate space for a reception area, studio, workshop and
darkroom.

*® Local historian Mike Petty, who has researched extensively early photography in Cambridge, whilst thinking
that Nicholls had opened his studio in All Saint’s Passage, also suggests that the disruption caused by
demolition and building work was the reason for his move to Post Office Terrace. See Mike Petty, ‘An Eye on
the Past’, Cambridge Weekly News, 21 February 1991, p.6 and 28 February 1998, p.7. Construction work on
the new chapel for St John’s College began in 1863 and the building was consecrated in 1869 — See G. F.
Reyner, The New Chapel of St John’s College, Cambridge, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1869.

%The Cambridge Chronicle and Journal, Saturday 24 June, 1865 p.1. The exact opening date is not known but
this is the earliest reference to the studio being open that | have been able to find. Nicholls had been making
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small lane off St Andrew’s Street.®' The building was owned by Jesus College who
leased it to Nicholls.®? These larger premises provided sufficient space for a
reception room and a ‘commodious’ studio large enough to take group portraits.®
Advertising himself as an ‘Artist and Photographer’® Arthur Nicholls offered a range
of portrait formats, including “The Ordinary Carte de Visite’, ‘Vignette Heads’ and the
latest novelty, ‘The Diamond Cameo Carte de Visite’.®® He also offered to take large
family and group portraits, to copy or enlarge cartes de visite and collodion glass
positives and to paint photographs in oil and watercolours.®® He was also willing to

photograph ‘groups, horses, dogs, &c., as per arrangement’.®’

The studio was open from 9am until 7pm during the summer months and from 9am
until dusk during the winter. Portraits were taken in the daylight-lit studio from 10am
until 4pm. Arthur Nicholls could not have managed to operate his studio by himself
and must have employed an assistant. In 1865, when the studio opened, Arthur’s
younger brother, Henry, was eighteen years old. In the 1871 census, Henry, who

was then still living with his father and his siblings at Newnham Grove, gave his

plans for the opening for several weeks. On 31 May 1865 he registered his designs for a trade circular and
business cards for his new studio with Stationers’ Hall — National Archives, COPY 1/8/582, COPY 1/8/583, COPY
1/8/584. For a consideration of the criteria regarding a suitable location for a studio, see Thomas Bolas, The
Photographic Studio: A guide to its construction, design and the selection of a locality, London: Marion, 1895,
H. P. Robinson, The Studio and What To Do in It, London: Piper & Carter, 1891 and H.P. Robinson, Photography
as a Business, Bedford: Percy Lund & Co, 1890.

61 post Office Terrace was named after the main Cambridge Post Office which had opened there in 1850. The
premises at Post Office Terrace were to remain in use as a photographic studio for well over 100 years under a
succession of photographers, including Valentine Blanchard, Lettice Ramsey and Helen Muspratt and, finally,
Peter Lofts, who closed the studio in 1985. See Mike Petty, ‘The Cambridge Photographers at Post Office
Terrace’, Cambridge, No 29, Winter 1991-2, pp. 99-106.

52 It would be revealing to see the details of the lease agreement. Unfortunately, the Jesus College archives
have not been fully catalogued — correspondence with Robert Athol, Jesus College Archivist 5 February 2018.

% The following advertisement appeared in the J Morgan & Co Directory of Cambridge, 1865-6: ‘AN begs
respectfully to inform the members of the University and the inhabitants of Cambridge that his commodious
studio with reception room &c is now open...’

% For Arthur Nicholls’ advertisements see, for example, The Cambridge Independent Press, Saturday 19 August
1865, p.4 and The Cambridge Chronicle and Journal, Saturday 2 September 1865, p.1.

% The Diamond Cameo format had been introduced the previous year. It consisted of four tiny portraits, each
showing different views of the sitter’s face, arranged in a diamond shape on a card mount. See Audrey
Linkman, The Expert Guide to Dating Victorian Family Photographs, Manchester: Greater Manchester County
Record Office, 2000, p.17.

% See advertisement in The Cambridge Independent Press, Saturday 19 August 1865, p.4.

%7 See advertisement in The Cambridge Chronicle and Journal, Saturday 20 October 1866 p.2.
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occupation as ‘photographer’. Henry almost certainly worked alongside his brother at

Post Office Terrace.%®

Arthur Nicholls clearly understood the commercial importance of fostering good
relationships with influential local figures. One of his early clients was Swann Hurrell,
three times Mayor of Cambridge between 1857 and 1866. In October 1865 Nicholls
donated a large format print of his portrait of Hurrell to the Cambridge Free Library.
The donation of this ‘excellent portrait’ was duly reported in the local press.®®
Portraiture was the studio’s primary activity. Being in a University town, Nicholls
aimed his advertising at both ‘the gentlemen of the University and the inhabitants of
the town’.”® Students and academics were amongst his most important clients.”
Arthur Nicholls also recognised the importance of the rapidly expanding local tourist
market which flourished following the arrival of the railway in Cambridge in the
1840s.”2In September 1865 he registered his photograph of the recently-demolished
All Saints Church for copyright at Stationers’ Hall.” While he did not register them,
Nicholls also sold photographs of other notable Cambridge churches as cartes de
visite.” Arthur Nicholls was, of course, neither the first, nor by any means the only,
Cambridge photographer to try to tap into the potentially lucrative but highly-
competitive market for touristic souvenir photographs. The 1861 edition of The

Railway Traveller’s Walk through Cambridge contains an advertisement by W.

% Henry Nicholls’ name does not appear in any local trade directories as an independent photographer. Given
the competitive nature of the profession, it is highly unlikely that Henry would have worked for another
photographic studio in Cambridge.

%The Cambridge Independent Press, Saturday 7 October 1865, p.8. This photograph is now in Cambridge Local
Studies Library — R.Hur.J.65.101. It shows that the still relatively young Arthur (then aged 24) was already
technically very proficient.

® See, for example, The Cambridge Chronicle and Journal, Saturday 18 May 1872, p.1.

"t Examples of Arthur Nicholls’ studio portraits of Cambridge students and academics can be found in several
Cambridge University college libraries and archives. For example, St John's Library (IX/3/11/4) and King’s
College Archives (GHWR/5/306).

2 The railway line from London to Cambridge opened in 1845. For an example of the tourism guides this
spawned, see A Guide to the Eastern Counties Railway (Cambridge Line), Norwich: Stevenson and Matchett,
1845.

73 National Archives COPY 1/9/306, 17 September 1865. The registration was also noted in The Photographic
News, 29 September 1865, p.468. Unfortunately, the registration form does not have a copy of the photograph
attached. Nicholls also photographed other Cambridge churches at the time but chose not to register these.
Perhaps he considered his record of All Saints Church to have greater potential historic and commercial value
following its recent demolition. On the registration form Nicholls gives his address as Newnham Grove,
Cambridge.

7 See, for example, a carte de visite of the Church of St Mary the Great on the Fading Images website -
http://www.fadingimages.uk/photoNi.asp (accessed 13/03/2018).
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Nichols (no relation) for photographic ‘views of the Town & University in great
variety’.” The book’s publisher, William Metcalfe, sold ‘Photographic Views of the
Colleges and other Public Buildings’ at his stationers and photographic
establishment in Trinity Street and was also an agent for Francis Frith’s photographic
views. While some of Nicholls’ views of Cambridge were formulaic, recording
churches, colleges and other historic buildings for the tourist market, others were
clearly created for other, non-commercial, purposes. The local studies collection at
Cambridge Central Library holds a folio of forty-two Cambridge views taken by Arthur
Nicholls between about 1865 and 1875 which have been given the generic title ‘Old
Cambridge’.”® Some of these are early ‘instantaneous’ studies of the Market Square
showing pedestrians crowding around the open-air stalls. " Others, in contrast, are
clearly intended as a photographic record of the rapidly changing face of Cambridge
where many medieval domestic and commercial buildings were being demolished to
make way for new developments. These subjects, including shops, pubs and the
yards of coaching inns, would have had little or no commercial potential. Cambridge

local historian Mike Petty has claimed that Nicholls was commissioned by Corpus

>The Railway Traveller’s Walk through Cambridge, Cambridge: William Metcalfe, 1861. Unpaginated
advertisements at the end of the book. Examples of Nichols’ cartes de visite of Cambridge colleges can be seen
at http://www.fadingimages.uk/photoNi.asp (accessed 13/03/2018). By the time of the 1867 edition, Nichols was
offering ‘500 different views to select from’. It is interesting to compare the woodcut of the Church of St Mary
the Great which appears on page 43 of the 1864 edition of this book with a carte de visite of the same subject
taken by Arthur Nicholls at about the same time.

76 Catalogue reference C.66.1 LS. These were deposited in the library in the 1980s by Peter Lofts, the last owner
of the Post Office Terrace studio. They are later (platinum?) prints made from whole plate negatives. The
studio contained thousands of negatives taken by its occupants over the years and stored in ‘every nook and
cranny’. See — A Guide to Negatives from the Post Office Terrace Studio, Cambridge
http://www.fadingimages.uk/POTNegativesV101.pdf (accessed 14/03/2018). Initially, these negatives by Nicholls
were probably purchased by his successor, J. E. Bliss as part of the arrangement when he took over the studio.
An advertisement taken out by Bliss in 1878 mentions ‘A large collection of college and other views kept in
stock’, Spalding’s Street and General Directory of Cambridge, Cambridge: W.F.Spalding, 1878.

7 The earliest photographic processes normally required exposures of many seconds, or even minutes,
rendering the photography of movement impossible. However, with the right combination of lighting, subject,
lens and plate size, exposures of a fraction of a second, while still very difficult to achieve, were possible.

The taking of such photographs became known as ‘instantaneous photography’. While the term was in
common usage during the 19th century, there was surprisingly little discussion or agreement as to precisely
what it meant. In practice, the term was applied to any photograph which contained an element of movement
or which was taken with an exposure of less than one second. In Britain, one of the earliest and most
celebrated exponents of instantaneous photography was Valentine Blanchard. His ‘Instantaneous Views’ of
London street scenes caused a sensation when they were first exhibited in the early 1860s — See
‘Instantaneous Views of London’, The British Journal of Photography, 15 October, 1862, pp. 381-382. For an
examination of the history of instantaneous photography, see Philip Prodger, Time Stands Still: Muybridge and
the Instantaneous Photography Movement, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003.
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Christi College ‘to take a photographic record of the Red Hart Yard in Petty Cury that
was to be redeveloped as Alexandra Street’.” Certainly, as documentary records,
several of Nicholls’ photographs display a striking affinity with those produced at
around the same time by the Society for Photographing Relics of Old London, which

was founded in 1875.7°

Despite competition from several other photographic studios, business appears to
have been good.* Towards the end of 1866, Arthur Nicholls advertised in the local
press for additional staff. 8! Nicholls’ need for an extra pair of hands may well have
been prompted by an imminent change in his personal circumstances. On 29
October 1866, Arthur married Charlotte Maria Johnson at St Botolph’s Church, in
Grimston, Norfolk.?? Arthur and Maria probably first met through a shared a family
connection with Norfolk. Arthur’'s mother, Sophia, had also been born in Charlotte’s
home village of Grimston. As it was such a small village, Sophia would certainly have
known Charlotte’s family. As a teenager, Charlotte worked in Islington as a
nursemaid to the young children of Henry Emery and his wife, Mary, both of whom
were also born in Norfolk. Arthur and Charlotte’s relationship may have begun in
London and continued after he had moved to Cambridge. With his studio
successfully established, Arthur may now have felt himself to be in a position to
consider marriage. There was also, however, another, more pressing, consideration
which hastened the marriage arrangements. When Charlotte walked down the aisle

she was already several months pregnant. Arthur brought his new bride back to

78 Mike Petty, ‘The Cambridge Photographers at Post Office Terrace’, Cambridge, No 29, Winter 1991-2, p.100.
® See Kenneth E. Foote, ‘Relics of Old London: Photographs of a changing Victorian City’, History of
Photography, Vol Il, Summer 1987, pp. 133-153.

8 Trade Directories show that in the 1860s there were several photographic studios in Cambridge competing
with Arthur Nicholls for business, including Robert Farren, Hills and Saunders, Frederick Nicholls (no relation),
William Nichols, William Pugh and Thomas Stearn. William Nichols can lay claim to being the first professional
photographer in Cambridge, having obtained a licence from Richard Beard to take daguerreotypes in 1844.
Nichols, who had a well-established studio in St Mary’s Passage, was clearly concerned when his near
namesake Arthur Nicholls opened his studio in 1865 in Post Office Terrace, less than five minutes’ walk away.
Nichols’ advertisements of the time carry a prominent notice that he had ‘No connection with any other
Photographic Establishment of the name of “Nichols”’. See, for examples, Morgan’s Directory of Cambridge
1865-6 and The Cambridge Chronicle and Journal, Saturday 2 September 1865 p.1.

#Nicholls advertised for ‘a sharp, active lad, age about 13 or 14, to run errands, &c’ The Cambridge Chronicle
and Journal, Saturday, 13 October 1866, p.5.

8t is interesting that on the marriage certificate Arthur gives his occupation as ‘artist’.
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Cambridge where their first child, Horace Walter Nicholls, was born ‘above the shop’,

less than four months later, on 17 February 1867.%

Horace was soon followed by two more children, Ernest and Gertrude.?* By the time
Gertrude was born, in May 1870, the growing Nicholls family had moved out of Post
Office Terrace to a house in Little St Mary’s Terrace, ten minutes’ walk from Arthur’'s
studio.® By this time his financial circumstances were such that Arthur could now

afford to employ two young female domestic servants.®

Marriage and fatherhood, combined with a degree of financial security, may have
encouraged Arthur Nicholls to consider that this was the right time to consolidate his
professional status as a photographer and an artist. In December 1870 he was
elected a member of the Photographic Society of London (now The Royal
Photographic Society).®” The previous year Arthur Nicholls had exhibited several
photographs of Dunster Castle in Somerset at the Society’s annual exhibition. His
father, John, was the builders’ foreman for the extensive restoration work that was
undertaken there between 1869 and 1872.%8 Arthur subsequently had prints included
in the 1870, 1871, 1872 and 1874 Photographic Society exhibitions.®

8 Conception out of wedlock was, of course, by no means uncommon. However, this fact was clearly
something which was not discussed within the family and came as a surprise to Nicholls’ descendants.

8 Ernest Frederick (1868-1937), born on 24 June 1868 and Gertrude Emily (1870-1956), born on 10 May 1870.
8 24 Little St Mary’s Terrace has since been demolished and is now the site of the University Centre.

8 According to 1871 Census, these were Elizabeth German and Louisa Willis, both aged 16.

8 Arthur Nicholls’ membership of the Photographic Society was announced in The Photographic Journal, on 16
December 1870, p.39.

8 Arthur Nicholls exhibited the following prints at the 1869 annual exhibition: Exhibit No 86, ‘Three views at
Dunster, Somerset’. Exhibit No 99, ‘Three views in Dunster’. Exhibit No 103. ‘Four views of Dunster castle’.
Exhibit No 106, ‘Four views’. 1869 and 1872. For the restoration of Dunster Castle, see The West Somerset Free
Press, Saturday 22 January 1870, p.4. This explains why John Nicholls is not listed as being at home at home in
Newnham Grove, Cambridge when the 1871 census was undertaken. The architect for the restoration work of
Dunster Castle was Anthony Salvin, one of whose previous commissions was the construction of Whewell’s
Court for Trinity College, Cambridge between 1860-68. This was where John Nicholls was previously employed
as Superintendent of Works — see Cambridge Chronicle and Journal, Saturday 18 July 1868, p.8, also, The
Builder, 25 July, 1868, p.549.

891870 — Exhibit No 49, ‘The Ferry’. Exhibit No 171, ‘King’s College Chapel, Cambridge’. Exhibit No 172, ‘The
Boat-house’. Exhibit No 305, ‘Cattle’. Exhibit No 306, ‘Group of Trees’.

1871 — Exhibit No 131, ‘At Home’. Exhibit No 371, ‘Three Cambridge Chorister Boys’. Nicholls registered two
prints showing three Cambridge choristers at Stationers’ Hall on 12 May 1871. National Archives COPY
1/17/414 and COPY 1/17/415.

1872 — Exhibit No 244, ‘Triptographic Cameos’. Exhibit No 188, ‘Toads, from life’.
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By the start of the 1870s, the enormous popularity which the carte de visite format
had enjoyed following its introduction into Britain in 1860 was decidedly on the wane.
To stimulate the public’s interest in studio portraiture, photographers sought to
introduce new portrait formats. The late 1860s and 1870s saw the appearance of a
succession of card formats of varying dimensions and layouts in an attempt to
stimulate trade.® In 1872, Arthur Nicholls registered several of his designs for novel
photographic card mounts for copyright with Stationers’ Hall.®' Featuring a larger oval
medallion portrait in the centre of the carte, flanked on either side by a smaller one,
Nicholls called his new design the “Triptographic Cameo’. He began advertising his
‘new style of portraiture’ in May 1872, describing it as ‘lately introduced and
registered by himself'.% Despite facing competition from a plethora of similar designs
introduced around the same time, Nicholls’ new format enjoyed some success. It
was taken up and introduced commercially by Marion & Co, one of the most
important printers of photographic mounts and the firm which supplied Arthur
Nicholls with the mounts he used in his studio. The British Journal of Photography

reviewed favourably some specimens on show in Marion’s London showroom.

These triptographic portraits are well adapted for family groups, for
one of the leading members of a family...may be placed in the
centre, supported on both sides by those olive branches which form
the “grace and glory” of most well-regulated domestic

establishments...

The general arrangement of the three pictures as a whole has been
registered, and also the specific patterns of the artistic designs; but it
is open to all photographers to obtain both the artistic patterns and
the legal right to use them upon payment of the small royalty of ten

shillings per thousand pictures. This style of portraiture will, if actively

% For a description of some of these formats, see Audrey Linkman, The Victorians: Photographic Portraits,
London: Tauris Parke Books, 1993, pp. 73-77.

% National Archives — COPY 1/18/344 to COPY 1/18/356, 29 April 1872 and COPY 1/18/539 to COPY 1/18/542.
13 June 1872.

2 See The Cambridge Chronicle and Journal, Saturday 25 May 1872, p.1. This claim was not strictly true since
he did not register his designs which he specified as ‘triptographic’ until 13 June 1872.
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pressed forward, lead to an extension of business in various

directions.®

It is not known how much Marion’s paid Arthur Nicholls for the use of his designs or
what percentage of the royalties he received. The format was used widely by
photographers as far afield as New Zealand so it was almost certainly a useful
additional source of income. This would have been very welcome since Nicholls’
family was continuing to grow. In July 1872 another son, Arthur, was born, who died
when he was less than a month old. 1874 saw the birth of a girl, Mabel, followed in
September the next year by another boy, Herbert.** By this time the family had left
their home in Little St Mary’s Terrace and moved to a larger house on Maid’s
Causeway, slightly outside the town centre. It is at this time that we get a glimpse of
Horace Nicholls’ life in official records when, aged seven, his name appears in the

admissions book for the Higher Grade School in Paradise Street.*

It was also around this time that Arthur Nicholls began to consider leaving
Cambridge to set up a studio elsewhere. It is possible that he may have decided to
leave Cambridge because his studio in Post Office Terrace was no longer making
money. There is some evidence to support this. In January 1887, a decade after
Nicholls had left Cambridge, a local architect, Richard Reynolds Rowe, who had
been consulted to advise on the construction of a new shop front for the studio,
wrote to the Bursar of Jesus College, which owned the building, stating that ‘the rent
is high at present; the last two tenants (Arthur Nicholls and his successor, John

Edward Bliss) lost money there.’*®

% ‘Triptographic Cameo Portraits’, The British Journal of Photography, 20 September 1872, p.444. See also
Audrey Linkman, The Expert Guide to Dating Victorian Family Photographs, Manchester: Greater Manchester
County Record Office, 2000, p.21.

% Alfred Arthur 19 July — 16 August 1872, Mabel Edith (1874-1902) and Herbert Arthur (1875-1961)

% See the National School Admission registers - https://search.findmypast.co.uk/results/world-records/national-school-
admission-registers-and-log-books-1870-1914?
firstname=horace&lastname=nicholls&yearofbirth=1868&region=United+Kingdom&keywordsplace=cambridge (accessed
14/03/2018). The school was opened in 1870. It was known as the Higher Grade School, because it aimed to
reach a higher standard than the existing elementary schools. Pupils (they were all boys) were charged 6d
week if they were aged under 10, and 9d if they were older. Horace attended the school with his younger
brother, Ernest.

% Quoted on the Fading Images website http://www.fadingimages.uk/photoNi.asp (accessed 13/3/2018).
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It is not known why Arthur Nicholls chose to relocate to Sandown on the Isle of
Wight.*” There are no known Nicholls family connections with the island. However, in
the 1870s, from a business perspective, Sandown could be seen to offer a great deal
of potential. Designed by the Victorians as a coastal resort, the town grew rapidly
after the opening of the railway line to Ryde in 1864, with ferry connections to the
mainland. Between 1861 and 1871 the resident population doubled, but even greater
growth was experienced in the number of holidaymakers. Between 1855 and 1875,
the number of boarding houses rose from just six to 64. Sandown pier opened in
1879 and a broad esplanade was completed in the early 1880s. The resort was
promoted as a ‘quality’ destination for more discerning, and affluent, holidaymakers.
Sandown in the 1870s was clearly a place with plenty of business opportunities.
Significantly, in 1875 it was also a town which had only one photographer to serve a
rapidly growing influx of visitors.?® This was an important consideration at a time
when the number of professional photographers and, consequently, the level of

commercial competition was increasing rapidly.®

The precise date the Nicholls family moved to the Isle of Wight is not known but it is
likely to have been some time in 1876.Charlotte Nicholls gave birth to a son, Gilbert
Edward, in Sandown in February 1877, followed by another boy, Stanley Hugh, in

May the following year, also in Sandown.'® During this time, Arthur Nicholls divided

his time between Cambridge and Sandown, sorting out the establishment of his new

1t is rumoured in family accounts that the move was prompted by the fact that Charlotte Nicholls had ‘a drink
problem’. However, | have seen no evidence to substantiate this or to explain how this would have been
alleviated by relocation to the Isle of Wight.

% For the history of the development of Sandown as a resort during the nineteenth century, see the Sandown
Conservation Area Appraisal Report compiled by the Isle of Wight Council in 2011 -
https://www.iwight.com/azservices/documents/1322 Sandown%?20Conservation%20Area%?20Character%20Appraisal.pdf
(accessed 15/03/2018). The sole photographer was Edward Peter Adams who had a studio in Fitzroy Street.
See The Post Office Directory of Hampshire, including The Isle of Wight, Wiltshire and Dorsetshire, London:
Kelly and Co, 1875, p.332.

% Between 1871 and 1881 the number of professional photographers recorded in the census returns increased
from 4,715 to 6,661 — a rise of more than 40%. See Census of England and Wales: General Report 1881 Volume
IV, London: Eyre and Spottiswoode 1883, p.32.

% Gjlpert Edward Nicholls, born 23 February 1877. Place of birth registered as 2 Birkbeck Cottages, Fort Street,
Sandown Isle of Wight. Stanley Hugh Nicholls, born 31 May 1878. Place of birth given as Sandown, Isle of
Wight.
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studio while, at the same time, arranging the transfer of his existing studio to a new

owner. 0

Some time before June 1878, Nicholls’ studio in Post Office Terrace Studio was
taken over by John Edward Bliss who had a shop selling fancy goods and stationery,
at 7 St Andrew’s Street, just around the corner.’® While continuing his other

business, Bliss now also advertised ‘portraits taken daily’.'®

Nicholls’ new studio, at 5 Marine Terrace, Sandown, was in a prime location,
overlooking the seafront.'™ The opening date is not known but he was certainly in
business there by the end of 1880 when Nichols used this address to register a
photograph he had taken of the remains of the Roman Villa at nearby Brading for

105

copyright at Stationers’ Hall.

In the 1881 census, when he had just turned 14, Horace Nicholls’ occupation is
recorded as ‘photographer’. By contemporary standards this was by no means

unusual.’® Children worked with their parents across a wide range of occupations

0 Arthur’s brother, Henry, may have taken on a more responsible role at this time and there is strong
circumstantial evidence to suggest that Arthur might have also employed someone who had recently become
a member of the family. On 5 July 1875, Arthur’s youngest sister, Emily, married Thomas Cox, a local man who
was employed as a woollen draper’s clerk. Thomas and Emily’s second son Alfred, was born on 24 April 1877
and his place of birth recorded as Post Office Terrace. Thomas Cox had no previous experience of photography
yet, in the 1881 census he gave his occupation as ‘photographer’. The obvious inference is that Thomas was
employed at the studio and Arthur and Henry taught their brother in law the basics so that he could help out
during Arthur’s visits to Sandown. If Arthur thought that he was helping his sister by giving Thomas a startin a
new career he was to be disappointed. By 1888 Thomas Cox was once again working as a clerk. In November
that year he was found guilty of forging his employer’s name on cheques and was imprisoned for nine months
with hard labour. See Cambridge Independent Press, Friday 23 November, 1888, p 5.

102 gnalding’s 1878 Cambridge Directory, published in June that year, lists Bliss as a photographer in Post Office
Terrace and ‘successor to A. Nichol’ (sic). Spalding’s Street and General Directory of Cambridge, Cambridge:
W.F.Spalding, 1878, p.115.

193 See, for example, The Cambridge Chronicle and Journal, Saturday, 18 October, 1879, p.1. Bliss, however,
was not to enjoy a long and successful career at Post Office Terrace. He died on 19 January 1885, aged just 30.
See Cambridge Independent Press, Saturday 9 May 1885, p.1. Bliss’s executor was his brother, Henry James
Bliss, who was also a photographer and worked with his brother at Post Office Terrace. On 30 June 1885,
Bliss’s ‘Photographic apparatus and stock-in-trade of a photographer’ were sold at auction. See Cambridge
Independent Press, Saturday, 27 June, 1885, p.5. By a strange quirk of fate, Bliss died while on holiday on the
Isle of Wight, where his predecessor, Arthur Nicholls, now had a studio The next occupier of the Post Office
Terrace studio was Valentine Blanchard.

141t was located in premises previously occupied by the Misses Loosemore who had a shop selling ladies boots
and shoes, underclothes, bed-linen and corsets. See, The First Edition of an Historical and Commercial
Directory of the Isle of Wight. London: J.W.Hill & Co 1871, p. 259.

1% National Archives COPY 1/51/485, 11 December, 1880.

1% As the summary report of the 1891 census noted: ‘Many young persons, being apprentices or assistants,
have been referred to occupations usually followed by adults’.
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and photography was no exception. Indeed, since the workplace was often also the
family home, children became involved in their parents’ work from a very early age.
In the summary tables compiled from the 1891 census returns 2,356 young people
aged between 10 and 20 were recorded as ‘photographers’. Of these, over 250 were
aged younger than 15."" Frederick Daniel Hardy’s 1862 painting, The Young
Photographers, (Figure 1.2) depicts a somewhat romanticised yet well observed
domestic scene set in the studio/home of a photographer. In the sitting room, the
photographer’s children play at being photographers, watched over by their mother
who, with a baby in her lap, is trimming photographs ready for mounting. In the
background, through an open door, the photographer’s studio is visible and, through
the window, the photographer himself is shown, trying to convince a couple to come

in and have their portraits taken.'®

With the birth of another son, Frank, in May 1883, Arthur and Charlotte Nicholls now
had seven children at home.'® Horace Nicholls was now 16. Unless he was prepared
to remain working with his father, he was now of an age when would soon have to
leave home to begin his own photographic career. It is not known why Horace chose
to move to West Yorkshire, over 250 miles from the Isle of Wight, but there is very
strong circumstantial evidence to suggest that he left Sandown to work for a

photographic studio in Huddersfield.

In May 1884, William Duffus took over a studio in Huddersfield that had previously
been operated by Samuel Stansfield Priestley."'® Having extensively re-fitted the
studio before re-opening it, Duffus may well have advertised for a young assistant.
As well as a photographer, William Duffus was also an artist and portrait painter and

would certainly have been regarded by Arthur Nicholls, a portrait painter himself, as

7 Census of England and Wales 1891 Volume Ill, Ages, Conditions as to Marriage Occupations, Birth-places
and Infirmities. London: HMSO, 1893, pp.x-xi. By this date Horace had left home. Two of his siblings, however,
are included in these statistics since both Mabel, aged 17, and Gilbert, aged 14, are recorded in the 1891
census as photographers.

1% This painting is in the collection of Tunbridge Wells Museum and Art Gallery — TUNWM:1956.86.23.

109 Frank Percival Nicholls, born 6 May 1883. Another son, Harold Edgar, had been born on 30 May 1881.

1% See The Huddersfield Chronicle, Saturday 17 May, 1884, p.5. The studio was at 28 Ramsden St, in the centre
of Huddersfield, opposite the Town Hall which had opened in 1881. See also Keith Adamson ‘Professional
Photographers in Halifax and Huddersfield’, The PhotoHistorian, Supplement No 104, Spring, 1994.
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being a suitable mentor for his son."" The opening of Duffus’ studio coincides with
the time around which Nicholls is thought to have left Sandown. The connection with
William Duffus would prove to be of subsequent significance for Nicholls’ career. In
November 1885, his studio was completely destroyed by fire.'? The following year he
opened a new studio, just around the corner in Queen Street, Huddersfield, where
he was joined by his younger brother, John. The brothers were only there for a
couple of years, however, before they migrated to South Africa.”*® The brothers’
subsequent career reveals a direct link with that of Horace Nicholls which cannot be
merely coincidental. In 1891, the Duffus brothers opened a studio in Pritchard Street,
Johannesburg. John Duffus became a close friend of the wealthy Johannesburg
mine-owner, George Henry Goch. Goch’s brother, James Frederick Goch, owned
the photographic studio, also in Pritchard Street, where Horace Nicholls was

employed when he moved to Johannesburg in 1892.""*

Horace Nicholls seems only to have spent a relatively short time in Huddersfield. '*°
By the summer of 1886, he was back on the Isle of Wight and looking for
employment. In September that year he placed an advertisement in the classified

section of The Photographic News.

Photographer’s son aged 21 is open for re-engagement as general

assistant or assistant operator and retoucher. Good references. '

1 \William Duffus had attended Aberdeen School of Art. See The Aberdeen Press and Journal, 12 August, 1879,
p.7. See also The Huddersfield Chronicle, Saturday 13 February, 1892, p.5.

112 See The Huddersfield Chronicle, Friday 13 November, 1885, p.3.

3 “To be sold, with immediate possession, the business at present carried on by Mr. William Duffus’ — The
Huddersfield Chronicle, 10 November, 1888, p.4.

14 See A.D.Bensusan, Silver Images: History of Photography in Africa, Cape Town: Howard Timmins, 1966, p.42.
See also, Duffus Bros. of Cape Town & Johannesburg - http://www.pelteret.co.za/content/000169/Duffus-Bros-of-Cape-
Town-and-Johannesburg.pdf (accessed 25/03/2018).

115 Nicholls may have left Huddersfield following the arrival of William Duffus’ brother, John. In July 1885
Horace Nicholls was in Rochester, Kent. Whilst there, he was involved in an accident when a pier on the River
Medway collapsed. About 80 people standing on the pier were thrown into the water. One of the lucky people
plucked from the water was Horace Nicholls who had been waiting to board a boat for Sheerness. His account
of his experience was reported in the local press - The Chatham and Rochester News, 1 August, 1885: ‘The
sight was horrifying to behold, some 50 or 60 people floating in the water (the majority women and children)
shrieking and screaming to be saved. | held on to the girder until the women and children were taken out of
the water, when the boats came for us fellows’.

Y8The Photographic News, 17 September, 1886, p.v. The address for replies is given as Cyprus Villa, Sandown,
Isle of Wight. Cyprus Villa was in Pellmont Road. The Nicholls family had moved to this address at some time
after 1881 and were still there at the time of the 1891 census.
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Nicholls stressed his breadth of experience as both an operator and retoucher. It is
significant that he sought ‘re-engagement’, implying that he had already had some
experience as an assistant operator. It is also revealing that he gave his age as 21
(his real age was 19), thereby hoping to appear older and more experienced to any

prospective employers.™’

Nicholls’ subsequent employment was a marked contrast to his experience in
Huddersfield; he was to spend the next three years working as a photographer in
Chile. This period is the least well documented of Nicholls’ career. In The Golden
Summer, Gail Buckland covers this period of Nicholls’ life in just 13 lines."® His
youngest daughter, Peggy, recalled her father describing his time in South America
as ‘the jolliest years of my life.”""® Given this description, Nicholls’ time in Chile might
be dismissed as simply an expression of his youthful wanderlust, an opportunity to
experience some travel and adventure before settling down to a career as a
respectable portrait photographer. On reflection, however, it becomes clear that it
was more than merely a youthful interlude of joie de vivre. '® It was a formative
period in his life, during which he extended his professional experience and was
introduced to some of the ideas, personalities and opportunities that were to shape

his future career.

During the late nineteenth century, Chile had very close cultural and commercial
links with Britain."®' Even though he was thousands of miles from home, Nicholls

would have heard many English voices and seen much that would have been very

17 According to his daughter, Peggy, Nicholls applied for a job in Chile after he saw an advertisement in a
newspaper while he was in Huddersfield — Quoted in Buckland, p. 113. | have been unable to trace any such
advertisement in any local or national newspaper or in the photographic press. The ‘vacancy sort” advert
placed by Nicholls in the Photographic News suggests that in 1886 he had returned to Sandown.
"8Buckland, The Golden Summer, pp.113-114.

Wpegay Mallinson, A brief biographical portrait of Horace. W. Nicholls, Family Collection.

120 Nicholls was not unique. Other British photographers travelled to distant parts of the world to establish
their careers. Walter Bentley Woodbury, for example, travelled to Australia in 1872, when he was just 18 and
Nicholls’ future colleague at the Ministry of Information, George Pasham Lewis, travelled to Java in 1897 to
work at the studio of Ohannes Kurkdjian when he was 22.

21 For a survey of Britain’s historic links with Chile, see William Edmundson, A History of the British Presence in
Chile, New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2009. For the history of Britain’s involvement with Chile | have relied
principally on this source.
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familiar. In a lecture to the Y.M.C.A. in Valparaiso in 1884, the Chilean historian,

Benjamin Vicuna Mackenna, described Chile as ‘The England of the Pacific’.'?

According to national censuses, there were 4,267 British nationals living in Chile in
1875, making up a quarter of all Europeans living there. Numbers rose over the
following decades. In 1885 there were 5,310 and, ten years later, 6,838."% As the
main port of entry into the country and the centre of foreign trade, many migrants
settled in Valparaiso. The British had a dominant presence among these foreigners.
According to the 1875 census, two-fifths of the British nationals living in Chile were
resident in Valparaiso where there was a concentration of British commercial
interests, particularly in retail and service businesses such as the English Tea Room,
the English Bar and Campbell & Maggs’ English Hotel. '** There was also an English
language newspaper, The Chilian Times and Mercantile and Shipping gazette for the
west coast of South America.'® Hernan Rodriguez Villegas, former Director of the
National Historical Museum of Chile, has compiled a directory of nineteenth century
photographers in Chile. According to his research, during the 1860s and 1870s,
there were also at least two photographic studios in Valparaiso run by Englishmen,

Charles Lewis Rowsell and C. Baldwin, who advertised as Fotografia Inglese.?

The commercial activity in Chile with which the British were most closely associated
and which they came to dominate at the end of the nineteenth century was nitrate
extraction. The British name most associated with Chilean nitrates is the larger-than-
life figure of investor and businessman, Colonel John Thomas North, known as ‘The

Nitrate King’."” A controversial personality, North purchased concessions to mine

12 Edmundson, p.5.

128 Figures quoted in Edmundson, p.106. Unfortunately, Nicholls’ time in Chile fell between the two census
dates of 1885 and 1895. Note — need to check 1885 census, just in case.

122 Edmundson, p.143.

12> The Chilian Times was published between 1876 and 1907. It contains shipping information and passenger
lists, news and local events and advertisements. It also published regular supplements, illustrated with
photographs. Potentially, this newspaper might contain useful information relating to Nicholls’ time in Chile.
Unfortunately, however, the only copies seem to be held by the Library of Congress in Washington DC and the
Biblioteca Nacional de Chile in Santiago.

126 Hernan Rodriguez Villegas, Historia de la Fotografia: Fotografos en Chile durante el siglo XIX, Santiago:
Centro Nacional del Patrimonio Fotografico, 2001.

27 For biographies of North, see, William Edmundson, The Nitrate King; a biography of ‘Colonel’ John Thomas
North, New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2011; Harold Blakemore, British Nitrates and Chilean Politics, 1886-
1896: Balmaceda and North, London: The Athlone Press, 1974. H. Blakemore, ‘John Thomas North, The Nitrate
King’, History Today, 1 July, 1962, pp.467-475. In 1885 North was made an Honorary Colonel of the 2™ Tower
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nitrates in Tarapaca at rock-bottom prices from Peru during the Pacific War. After the
war, the Chilean government agreed to honour these concessions and North

subsequently enjoyed a virtual global monopoly of nitrate supply.

In Chile, there was increasing apprehension about the amount of power and
influence that North had accumulated. José Manuel Balmaceda, who became
president of Chile in 1886, was openly critical of the amount of foreign, particularly
British, business interest in his country. By 1889, North felt that he had been away
from Chile for too long and needed to return there to safeguard his considerable
financial interests. In February 1889, North sailed to Chile. In order to garner the
maximum publicity for his trip, he paid handsomely for two of the best-known
journalists of the time, William Howard Russell'?® and Melton Prior,'?°to accompany
him and to record their experiences.'® In March the party arrived in Valparaiso —
described by The lllustrated London News as ‘the Liverpool of Chile, which

possesses all the European conveniences of modern civilised town’.™’

To Theodore Child, a contemporary American visitor, the Anglicisation of the city

was obvious.

‘Valparaiso, the port of Santiago, and the principal port of the

republic, is quite an English city. "The Chilians will not be pleased to

Hamlets (East London) Volunteer Engineer Corps. See, The London Gazette, 24 March, 1885, p.1315.
128\illiam Howard Russell (1820-1907), who wrote for The Times, is considered to be one of the first modern
war correspondents. Over his long career he reported on many conflicts, including the Crimean War, the
American Civil War, the Franco-Prussian War and the Zulu War. See, Caroline Chapman, Russell of The Times:
War Despatches and Diaries, London: Bell & Hyman, 1984; Robert Furneaux, The First War Correspondent:
William Howard Russell, London: Cassell, 1944; Alan Hankinson, Man of Wars: William Howard Russell of The
Times, London: Heinemann, 1982.

129 One of the leading illustrators of late Victorian Britain, Melton Prior (1845-1910) worked as a Special Artist
for The lllustrated London News from the early 1870s until 1904. For accounts of Prior’s work and career, see
Pat Hodgson, The War lllustrators, London: Osprey, 1977; Paul Hogarth, The Artist as Reporter, London:
Gordon Fraser, 1986; Peter Johnson, Front Line Artists, London; Cassell, 1978; Robert Wilkinson-Latham, From
our Special Correspondent: Victorian war correspondents and their campaigns, London: Hodder and Stoughton,
1979. Prior had another reason to visit Chile. Since 1882 he had been, along with North, a director of the
Nitrate Railways Company Ltd — see, Harold Blakemore, British Nitrates and Chilean Politics, 1886-1896:
Balmaceda and North, London: The Athlone Press, 1974, p.48.

B90ver the course of the trip, Russell came to greatly dislike Prior. In September 1889, Russell wrote to his
daughter, Alice, ‘He is the most insufferable conceited snob | ever met.” Quoted in Alan Hankinson, Man of
Wars: William Howard Russell of The Times, London: Heinemann, 1982, p.258. According to Russell, North
wrote out a cheque for £1,000 to persuade Russell to accompany him to Chile.

131 ‘Sketches in Chile’, The lllustrated London News, 9 August, 1890, p.182.

37



read that statement," suggests a friend at my elbow. "Can it be
denied?" | ask. "Is not the whole aspect of the place English? Is not
the bay full of English ships? Do you not hear English spoken
everywhere as soon as you get ashore? Do not the public-houses
bear the familiar old sign-boards of the ' Royal Oak’, the 'Queen's
Arms’, the ‘Red Lion’, 'All the World's Corner’?' Here is the suave
English chemist, whose speech is so precise; English booksellers,
three or four of them with fine shops; English doctors by the dozen;
English grocers, who sell bacon and pickles, and style themselves
‘ltalian warehousemen’, according to the classical tradition of their
guild; English shop-keepers of all kinds; English hotels, and, of
course, an English newspaper...Up there on the hill do | not spy an
English church? All these business blocks, house after house, are
not the firms English, with an intermixture of German? If you take

away the English firms from Valparaiso, what remains?’ "%

Russell recorded his first impressions of Valparaiso in an account which reflects his
colonial perspective and was published after his return to Britain. The existence of a

vibrant and influential community of foreigners was clearly evident:

It would, perhaps, be impertinent to inquire how much of the present
prosperity of the port is due to the foreigners, who constitute to-day

an important section of the citizens and inhabitants of the place.'

One of these foreigners was Horace Nicholls. In September 1890 the local
newspaper, El Mercurio, described Nicholls as ‘un prominente miembro de la colonia

inglesa de Valparaiso que ha vivido algunos anos en Chile.”"*

As a ‘prominent member of the English community’, Nicholls may have met Russell
and Prior socially during their stay in Valparaiso. On 16 April, 1889, North, Russell

and Prior were the guests of honour at a dinner, hosted by a Mr Woodsend, ‘one of

32 Theodore Child, The Spanish-American Republics, New York: Harper & Brothers, 1891, p.133.

133 William Howard Russell, A visit to Chile and the nitrate fields of Tarapaca, London, J. S. Virtue & Co., 1890.
p.73.

3% ‘A prominent member of the English community in Valparaiso who has lived in Chile for some years’. E/
Mercurio, 15 September, 1890 (unpaginated).
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the foremost merchants of Valparaiso’.”** A few days later, Nicholls would have had
another opportunity to meet Valparaiso’s distinguished visitors when ‘A very grand
banquet was given by Colonel North...to the principal English residents, the Consul,

merchants, bankers &c of Valparaiso.’"*

Even if Nicholls did not attend these social events, there is evidence that during their
time in Valparaiso Nicholls met Russell and Prior in his professional capacity as a
photographer. Before moving on to Santiago, Russell and his entourage paid a visit

to a local photographic studio to have their portraits taken.

So, when the customary tribute of sittings to the photographer’s had
been paid, and groups and portraits had been duly ordered and paid
for too, we shook the dust — and there was plenty of it — of the Hotel

de France off our feet, and took train for Santiago.'™’

Russell does not give the name of the photographic studio he visited. In 1892,
however, The Strand magazine published an interview with Russell, illustrated with a
portrait reproduced from a recent photograph credited to ‘Diaz, Spencer & Co,
Valparaiso’.”*® In 1899, The Sketch magazine reproduced a portrait of Melton Prior to
accompany an article on the war correspondents who were reporting on the South

African War. This portrait is also credited to ‘Diaz Spencer, Valparaiso’.'®
In The Golden Summer, Buckland speculates about Nicholls’ employer in Chile that:

The name of the photographer for who he worked is unknown, but

possibly Grabado Diaz | Spencer with his double-barrelled Spanish

and English name could have been his employer.'*°

35 Thomas Woodsend was a partner in the major import-export firm, Duncan Fox and Company, which had
established an office in Valparaiso in 1876.

138 |bid. p.126. Vina del Mar, a prosperous suburb of Valparaiso, was where many wealthy foreigners chose to
live. Vina del Mar had a racecourse where horse races were held every Sunday.

137 Russell, A visit to Chile, p.85.

B8 ‘||lustrated Interviews: No. XVIIl — William Howard Russell’, The Strand, Vol. 4, July-December, 1892, p. 566.
Two years later, The Sketch reproduced the same portrait of Russell, credited to ‘Diaz, Valparaiso’ — The Sketch,
19 September, 1894, p. 432.

3% ‘Some of our Leading War-Correspondents’, The Sketch, 29 November, 1899, p.17.

4% Byckland, The Golden Summer, p.114.
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In fact, the name ‘Diaz | Spencer’ actually refers to two separate photographers,
rather than one with a double-barrelled name. Born in Santiago, Carlos Diaz
Escudero was active as a portrait photographer from the 1860s. In 1879, Diaz
formed a partnership with another photographer, Eduardo Clifford Spencer. Born in
lowa in the United States in 1844, Spencer migrated to Chile in the mid-1860s and
by 1875 was operating a portrait studio in Valparaiso in partnership with a German
photographer, Carlos Bischoff. Following the outbreak of the Pacific War in 1879,
Diaz and Spencer were authorised by the Chilean government to record the fighting
in northern Chile, Bolivia and Peru. Their photographs, including graphic images
showing the dead and wounded, were shown in several exhibitions and widely
circulated in Albumes de la Guerra, sold through Diaz’s studio in Santiago. Diaz and

Spencer are recognised as the first photojournalists in Chile.™"

After the conclusion of the Pacific War in 1883, Diaz and Spencer continued their
partnership, operating portrait studios in Santiago and Valparaiso and also exhibiting
and selling topographic and touristic souvenir photographs. In March 1888,
Valparaiso’s El Mercurio newspaper announced that Diaz and Spencer had
produced a series of photo-engravings which were now available in bound albums
entitled Recuerdos de Chile. Grabado is the Spanish word for ‘engraving’ — hence,

‘Grabado Diaz | Spencer’. "

While there is no documentary proof, there is extremely strong circumstantial
evidence to suggest that Nicholls was employed by the studio of Diaz and Spencer.
When he returned to Britain, Nicholls brought back with him three Recuerdos de
Chile albums published by ‘Grabado Diaz | Spencer’, which he retained for the rest
of his life and are now in the family collection. Buckland suggests that Nicholls may
have kept these albums because they contained examples of his work. Another,
perhaps more likely explanation, is that Nicholls retained these albums purely for the
purpose for which they were created — as pictorial souvenirs of his time in Chile —

since they contain images which pre-date his arrival in Chile. The Nicholls family

! Hernan Rodriguez Villegas, Historia de la Fotografia: Fotografos en Chile durante el siglo XIX, Santiago:
Centro Nacional del Patrimonio Fotografico, 2001. p.94.

“2These albums were sold in Valparaiso at the English bookshop owned by Gordon, Henderson and Co. In
1876, two Scots, Stewart Ramsay Gordon and Andrew Henderson, had opened a shop at 11 calle Esmeralda,
Valparaiso’s main shopping street, selling books, newspapers and stationery, imported from Britain.
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collection also contains several albumen prints of Chilean subjects. Two of these,
Tierra del Fuegian Indians and Chilean Women’s Heads, are variants of engravings
which are included in the albums. One of these, however, Flores Chilenas, a
composite mosaic of women’s heads, was exhibited at the Photographers’
Association of America convention held in St Louis in June 1886 and so could not

have been taken by Nicholls who was still living in Britain at the time.™?

Colonel North, together with Russell and Prior, returned to Britain in July 1889.
Russell and Prior immediately set about fulfilling their obligations to publicise their
time in Chile. Many of Prior’s sketches were reproduced to accompany a series of

articles published in The lllustrated London News, starting in August 1889."* Several

143 See Anthony’s Photographic Bulletin, 11 September, 1886, p. 519 — ‘Flores Chilenas by Diaz y Spencer, a
handsome mosaic of beautiful Chilean ladies’. An engraving of a variant of the group photograph of ‘Natives of
Tierra del Fuego’ was reproduced in The Graphic in 1887, credited to Diaz y Spencer — The Graphic, 24
September, 1887, p. 336.

%% |n 1992 the Museo Historico Nacional published a bilingual compilation of these articles as Reportaje a
Chile: Dibujos de Melton Prior y cronicas de Illustrated London News 1889-1891. (Report on Chile: Sketches by
Melton Prior and reports in The lllustrated London News, 1889-1891.) Santiago: Museo Historico Nacional,
1992. Whilst most of Prior’s sketches were drawn by him on site, a few, notably those depicting the nitrate
mines in northern Chile, were based on (indeed, in some cases, simply copied from) existing photographs.
Compare, for example, Prior’s sketches of ‘Nitrate Works in Chile’, published in The lllustrated London News
(16 November, 1889, p.623) with Luis Boudat’s photographs in his album Salitreras de Tarapacd (1889). Other
sketches were based on photographs that Prior had taken himself. Blakemore claims that all of Prior’s
illustrations in Russell’s A Visit to Chile and the Nitrate Fields (1890) were ‘not drawn from life but were based
on a collection of photographs taken during the visit, and now in the possession of Mrs V. Proctor’. See, Harold
Blakemore, British Nitrates and Chilean Politics, 1886-1896: Balmaceda and North, London: The Athlone Press,
1974, p.95. For the last few years, Prior had taken to carrying a camera on his expeditions. Whilst stressing
that ‘Under no circumstances could | hope that the camera would take the place of the pencil and the sketch-
book in the actual bustle of warfare’ he felt that a portable camera ‘would come in very useful in securing
details of costumes, ceremonies, vegetation and similar objects.” Melton Prior (War Correspondent, /llustrated
London News), ‘Photography at the Seat of War’, The British Journal Photographic Almanac, 1887, pp.237-239.
This article includes a remarkably prophetic description of the camera of the war correspondent of the future:
‘I can conceive of a camera...which might be useful even during the heat of an engagement. It would have to
be suspended around the neck by a strap...It must have a finder, in which at a moment any scene could be
examined, the exposure to be made instantaneously...It would have to be so automatic in working that a fresh
surface would be unwound or exposed...as soon as the preceding view had been obtained...the camera would
have to be used as one does a revolver — a ‘shot’ here and there in quick succession if necessary...Who will
introduce such a camera?’ On his trip to Chile, Prior had used a hand or ‘detective’ camera: For a brief survey
of the development of hand cameras during this period, see Colin Harding, ‘Camera Design: Portable hand
cameras 1880-1900’ in John Hannavy (ed), The Encyclopedia of Nineteenth-Century Photography, London:
Routledge, 2008, pp.249-251. ‘I am pleased to think that at last | have come across the very camera that |
wanted. | have tried it during three journeys, the last one being when | accompanied Colonel North to Chili
(sic) and Peru, where | obtained some first-class instantaneous negatives which have been of great assistance
since | returned, and a collection of which | have had the pleasure of presenting to Miss North (North’s
daughter, Emma, had accompanied him on his trip to Chile). This realisation of my wishes is, | am bound to
own, due to Mr. Rouch, both for his camera and plates... | should now as soon think of going abroad without
one of these apparatus as without my pencils or pistols’. William White Rouch was a camera and dry plate
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of Prior’s sketches were also used by Russell to illustrate his account of the

expedition, A Visit to Chile and the Nitrate Fields of Tarapaca. '*°

The lllustrated London News was distributed widely in Chile, sold by English
stationers and booksellers and also available in the reading rooms of social clubs
such as the Union Club in Valparaiso. Nicholls and the other British residents of the
city, would have followed with interest the local scenes and events described in the
magazine and illustrated by Melton Prior’s sketches. By the time Russell’'s account of

his visit to Chile was published, however, in May 1890, Nicholls was back in Britain.

In July 1890, back once more on the Isle of Wight, Horace Nicholls placed another
advertisement in The Photographic News, once again looking for employment: ‘Re-
engagement required by operator accustomed to high-class work’.' Significantly, by
this time, four years on from his previous advertisement, he describes himself as an
‘operator’ rather than an ‘assistant’ and is now looking for a situation more

commensurate with his maturity and experience.

Nicholls was soon on the move once again. This time, however, his journey was
much more modest - to Windsor in Berkshire and to the studio of George Piner
Cartland.™’

In May 1885 Cartland had taken over a studio at 13 High Street, Windsor, previously
occupied by a William Carpenter.™® In November that year Cartland was elected a

manufacturer with premises at 180 Strand, London. See, Norman Channing and Mike Dunn, British Camera
Makers, Esher: Parkland Designs, 1996, pp.109-110. Melton Prior (Special War Artist to the lllustrated London
News), ‘The Photo Requirements of a War Artist’, The British Journal Photographic Almanac, 1891, pp.683-
684.Prior used Rouch’s ‘Eureka’ hand camera, one of the most popular magazine plate cameras of the time.
See, Brian Coe, Cameras: From Daguerreotypes to Instant Pictures, London: Marshall Cavendish, 1978, pp.67-
68.

%5 William Howard Russell, A visit to Chile and the nitrate fields of Tarapaca, London, J. S. Virtue & Co., 1890.
1%6The Photographic News, 4 July 1890, p. 528. As with his previous advertisement looking for employment, the
address for replies is once again given as ‘Cyprus Villa, Sandown Isle of Wight'.

“George Piner Cartland did not start out as a photographer. His father, also called George, was a successful
Windsor businessman and George Inr followed his example. In 1882, father and son were joint directors of the
Royal Land, Investment and Building Society, offering ‘large or small loans on favourable terms’ from their
office in Windsor High Street. At this time, George Jnr was also a proficient photographer. In April 1884 he took
a series of photographs of the funeral procession of the Duke of Albany, Queen Victoria’s youngest son, as it
wound through the centre of Windsor. He then proceeded to sell copies of these from the Building Society
offices which he referred to as the ‘Royal Photographic Studio’.

48 See The Windsor and Eton Express, Saturday 9 May 1885, p.1. Cartland also bought Carpenter’s negatives,
from which he supplied copies and enlargements. The building now houses a restaurant but the large windows
on the first floor are evidence of its earlier use.
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member of the Photographic Society of Great Britain and went on to exhibit his work
at the society’s annual exhibitions between 1886 and 1892."°He had the good
fortune to receive royal patronage. In 1886 he was commissioned by Queen Victoria
to take a series of ‘portraits’ of her dogs. These were subsequently exhibited at the
Photographic Society’s annual exhibition that year where they won a medal.”™ As
well as royal dogs, Cartland also photographed royal children and members of staff
of the royal household, which led to him being granted a Royal Warrant as

‘Photographer to Her Majesty at Windsor’ on 2 August, 1887."'

Cartland was a busy man. As well as his nascent photography business, he was the
manager of the Royal Windsor Building Society."?In September 1889, Cartland’s
father died, leaving George and his brother to manage the family’s many business
interests.® In the circumstances, it would have made sense for Cartland to employ
an operator to look after the day to day running of the studio, leaving him free to

concentrate on the more important, including royal, commissions.

It is not known exactly when Nicholls moved to Windsor but he was working at
Cartland’s studio by January 1891."**In the1891 census, recorded in April that year,

Nicholls gave his occupation as ‘photographer’s assistant’.’®> He seems, however, to

%9 See The Photographic Journal, 27 November, 1885, p.25.

130 See Eve Blantyre Simpson, ‘The Queen’s Dogs’, The Art Journal, July 1887, pp.241-244. Also, Sophie Gordon,
Noble Hounds and Dear Companions, London: The Royal Collection, 2007. Over 90 of Cartland’s photographs
are now in the Royal Collection -